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Note of dedication

JVMI would like to dedicate its report about the civil 
society hearing on the 1988 massacre in Iran, convened on 
1 February 2018, to the memory of the great humanitarian 
Asma Jahangir, for her dedication to the cause of human 
rights in Iran. 

JVMI is deeply saddened by the sudden tragic loss of Ms. 
Jahangir, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human 
rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran.  She will be dearly 
missed by all the families of victims of the 1988 massacre in Iran who met and shared their story 
with her. 

In her meetings and encounters with families of the victims of the 1988 massacre, Asma coming 
from a background as a caring defender of human rights, was full of determination to achieve 
justice and human rights in Iran.

families of victims of the 1988 massacre have a right to remedy, reparation, and the right to know 
about the truth of these events and the fate of the victims without risking reprisal.

Asma will be remembered by the people of Iran as a champion of human rights who did not shy 
away from speaking out against injustice by a duplicitous regime that engages in human rights 
violations.

Her reports stated that the perpetrators of the massacre have never been held to account and 
continue to hold key positions in the Iranian government and Judiciary. Indeed, she pointed 
out that the current Iranian Justice Minister was a member of the Death Commissions that sent 
political prisoners to their deaths. 

Asma has left us, but she has done so with a legacy to be proud of. May she rest in peace as her 
memory endures in the hearts and minds of millions of Iranians and other victims of human 
rights abuses throughout the world.

and carry her torch for human rights in Iran.





Executive Summary
Following reports by the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in 
the Islamic Republic of Iran and the UN Secretary General to the General Assembly highlighting 
the 1988 massacre of political prisoners in Iran, a civil society hearing was held in Geneva on 1 
February 2018 to discuss the necessary steps for bringing an end to the impunity enjoyed by the 
perpetrators. In her report, Special Rapporteur Asma Jahangir stated that “families of the victims 

public disclosure of the truth; and the right to reparation. The Special Rapporteur therefore calls 
on the Government to ensure that a thorough and independent investigation into these events is 
carried out.”

Justice for the Victims of the 1988 Massacre in Iran (JVMI) had already published two documentary 

and “The 1988 Massacre in Iran - Evidence of a Crime against Humanity” was published in 

of the 1988 massacre of political prisoners in the Islamic Republic of Iran.  The hearing was the 

current wave of mass arrests and killings in Iranian jails following the recent anti-government 
protests.
 
The civil society hearing urged the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights to establish a fact-

 

experts and advocates stressed that such an inquiry, long overdue, is now especially crucial in 
light of the arrest of thousands of peaceful anti-government protesters at the turn of the year, 

similar fate. 

deaths by insisting that they actually were instances of suicide.

“Deceased prisoners have died of guilty conscience,” Hassan Nowroozi, the spokesman for the 

acts, and maybe that led to their suicide in prison.”

Death Commissions in various cities throughout Iran, where they were tasked with eliminating 



all political prisoners who remained loyal to their beliefs.

families of the victims. In another session, four distinguished experts; Jean Ziegler, Vice President 

to the UN. 
 
Participants in the hearing expressed a consensus that the 1988 massacre clearly constitutes a 
crime against humanity. They stressed that the international community and in particular the 
UN are obliged to take all necessary measures to end impunity in this case, and they warned that 
failure to hold Tehran accountable would simply emboldened the Iranian authorities to continue 
their gross human rights violations. 
 

crime against humanity had occurred in 1988 and that it has continued to date. She named several 
perpetrators of the 1988 massacre currently holding key judicial positions, including Justice 
Minister Alireza Avaie and Advisor to the Head of the Judiciary Mostafa Pour-Mohammadi. 
She warned that if this impunity is not ended, the lives of those arrested at the beginning of 2018 
would be at serious risk. 
 

not and cannot launch an independent investigation into this massacre, and thus, the relevant 
Special Procedures ought to individually and collectively call on the UN to establish an impartial 
commission of inquiry. 
 

of them during the 1988 massacre. Three of the survivors explained that preparation for the 

the mass killings of Srebrenica. 
 
Summing up the evidence of a crime against humanity

The testimony of survivors and relatives of massacre victims presented concrete evidence of a 



in Iran. 

“For the purpose of this Statute, “crime against humanity” means any of the following acts when 

(a)     Murder;
(b)     Extermination;
(c)     Enslavement;
(d)     Deportation or forcible transfer of population;
(e)     Imprisonment or other severe deprivation of physical liberty in violation of fundamental 
rules of international law;
(f)     Torture;
(g)     Rape, sexual slavery, enforced prostitution, forced pregnancy, enforced sterilization, or any 
other form of sexual violence of comparable gravity;

recognized as impermissible under international law, in connection with any act referred to in 
this paragraph or any crime within the jurisdiction of the Court;
(i)     Enforced disappearance of persons;
(j)     The crime of apartheid;

injury to body or to mental or physical health.”   

doubt, let alone reasonable doubt, that crimes against humanity has occurred. These documents 

war on God and are condemned to execution.”
 
The decree was so ruthless even by the standards of the Islamic Republic of Iran, that the Chief 

Annihilate the enemies of Islam immediately. As regards the cases, use whichever criterion that 
speeds up the implementation of the verdict.”

the issue with four of the perpetrators in the midst of the killings, all of whom acknowledged and 
defended the mass killings. 

There was evidence that political prisoners were called before a three-panel commission, 
comprising of a religious judge, a prosecutor and a representative of the Ministry of Intelligence 



also stated that the number of prisoners thought to have been executed in 1988 stood at around 

and even defending the executions.   

There was evidence from witnesses that spurious charges or no charges at all were used in 

subsequently was executed.

spurious charge but who were in fact political prisoners. There was evidence of torture carried 
out on prisoners, including physical torture, beatings, lashing, beatings to feet and legs causing 
infection and, in some cases, resulting in amputation. Some of the beatings that were described 
resulted in kidney problems for victims. Further inhumane conditions including denial of access 

unrecognisable even to his own father. There was evidence of torture used to extract confessions, 

give an excuse to comply with a fatwa which had no basis in any legal process, procedure or law.

Relatives of victims also faced psychological torture. Numerous witnesses reported families 
being called to prison and then sent away, and refusal of visitation rights to people. The families 
were given no access to the body of their loved one. They were also denied access to graves, or 

witnesses explained how he had been able to identify the curly hair of his sister in a mass grave 
in order to carry out a proper burial; however, the burial resulted in the head stone constantly 

stopped in 1988, as the planning was under way, in order to carry out the executions. There was 
direct evidence from those who were in prison who could hardly believe how the prisons had 
been emptied so quickly thinking it could only be that there were pardons and then hearing via 
Morse code that in fact there was no pardon, that people were being hanged in twos and more. 

day, and evidence of lines going to slaughter. There was evidence of family members still not 
knowing even the spurious reason upon which a loved one was put to death.

There was evidence from the witnesses of more inhumane treatment by the state in the returning 
of belongings of prisoners. The session heard of an 86-year-old mother who was still waiting for 

games, the cruel inhumane treatment, the mental torture. The session heard numerous names 



of members of the Death Commissions. Furthermore, evidence was presented of the complicity 
of prison guards and the knowledge of the prison guards, knowing that there was complete 
planning and that the mass execution was what was happening next.

The UN Obligations

of crimes against humanity. All the eminent jurists agreed that what happened to the political 

It was also concluded that the 1988 massacre in Iran was more serious and on a larger scale than 

faced trial, perpetrators of the 1988 massacre are enjoying impunity and many of them hold key 
positions in various branches of the government and judiciary. 

The UN Special Representative on Human Rights Situation in Iran at the time of the massacre 
was Reynaldo Galindo Pohl. He was immediately informed of the start of mass executions. In 

one report of 800 executions. He further called on the Iranian authorities to investigate the report. 

Iran. 

The most recent Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic 

on Human Rights on the situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran, Reynaldo 
Galindo Pohl, expressed concern over the “global denial” of the executions and called on Iranian 

She further stated that “In August 2016, an audio recording of a meeting held in 1988 between 

Justice, a current high court judge, and the head of one of the largest religious foundations in the 
country and candidate in the May presidential elections. Following the publication of the audio 

had taken place and, in some instances, defended them.”

even defended the executions, and further acknowledged that it is impossible to expect a regime 
like that of the Islamic Republic of Iran to independently investigate, the Special Rapporteur 
went on again like her predecessors calling again on the government of Iran to investigate. It is 
clear that after 30 years of denying and then defending the massacre, the Iranian authorities will 
not investigate themselves for a crime against humanity. If we stand by the rule of law, we need 
the establishment of an international commission of inquiry.



Indeed, the Iranian authorities are unable to investigate the 1988 massacre because on the one 

executions and are still calling for the annihilation of the opposition. 

mechanism for the promotion and protection of human rights, and there is a Special Rapporteur 
concerned with torture. So, he is expected to be seized about this issue in addition to the Special 
Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Iran.  There is also a Special Rapporteur concerning 

Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances; they too should be concerned, as should the Special 
Rapporteur on the promotion of truth, justice, reparation and guarantees of non-recurrence. 

there is a legitimate right to call on the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights to take his 
own initiative. This is a case that needs to be urgently investigated and the intervention of the 
High Commissioner for Human Rights is going to be instrumental if the special rapporteurs are 

that the six rapporteurs concerned ought to come together and put their forces together and issue 
a statement that requests an investigation. And individually, each rapporteur concerned should 

investigating crimes against humanity, crimes of war and genocide.

Recent developments

The authorities in Iran continue their widespread crackdown, targeting participants in the recent 

Activists inside the country have monitored more than 8,000.

“enemies of God.” Some of the present conditions are disturbingly reminiscent of the run-up to 
the 1988 massacre. 

are the perpetrators of the 1988 massacre, and bearing in mind that since the beginning of 2018 
at least 12 protesters are reported to have been killed under torture, there is serious concern that 

enjoying total impunity in the government and judiciary.

Conclusion and recommendations

The ruthless and extreme violence the Iranian authorities used recently against peaceful 
demonstrators is an additional indicator that impunity has emboldened the regime in suppressing 
the opposition. The perpetrators of previous grave crimes in Iran must not be allowed to embark 



message to the Iranian authorities that impunity will no longer be accepted, nor tolerated. The 

of Inquiry or a Fact-Finding Mission to investigate the 1988 mass killings.

mission to investigate the 1988 massacre to reveal the truth, hold the perpetrators to account and 
seek justice, reparation and guarantees of non-recurrence.

of Iran must seize the opportunity and based on all available evidence further cover this issue 
and urge relevant UN institutions to adopt binding measures.

Mission.



Introduction

By Tahar Boumedra

Good morning ladies and gentlemen,

in Iran and the ongoing persecution of the Iranian opposition. 

political prisoners who were serving prison terms. The U.N., through the successive Special 
Representatives and Special Rapporteurs, had repeatedly called on the government of Iran to 
undertake an independent investigation, but the call of the U.N. had always fallen on deaf ears. 
The suspect perpetrators of the massacre of 1988, of, allegedly, over 30,000 victims, had been 

investigation has taken place and our hearing today comes in the context that the government of 
Iran has refused to cooperate with the U.N. and is unwilling to investigate.

establishing an independent commission of inquiry to look into this massacre that is still ongoing. 
The recent events that took place in most cities and towns in January (2018), where a number of 

like to remind everybody that the Special Procedures established by the Human Rights Council 

undertaking any serious investigation.  For this purpose I would like to point out the Principles 

May 1989. They make it, at least morally, an obligation to investigation alleged crimes against 
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victims.  

of extra-legal, arbitrary and summary executions, including cases where complaints by relatives 
or other reliable reports suggest unnatural death...”

family of the victim about these inadequacies or other substantial reasons, Governments shall 
pursue investigations through an independent commission of inquiry or similar procedure.”

These principles are directed towards the U.N. member states, but also oblige the Special 
Procedures of the U.N. when it is proven that the government concerned has failed to investigate 

case of our hearing today.  In the absence of any investigation of the massacre of 1988 and the 
extra-legal killings that took place lately, civil society has found no alternative but to launch 
its own investigation, and we are hoping that in our gathering today, the panel of experts will 
look at the available evidence that sheds some light on what happened during the summer of 

Situation of Human Rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran and the other special rapporteurs 

will be put in the form of an appeal to these Special Procedures and to the High Commissioner 
for Human Rights to appoint a commission of inquiry to act independently and investigate the 

of intervention.

took place during the summer of 1988 in the Islamic Republic of Iran and she will interview and 
question a number of witnesses that will come to the panel.

After that, we will hear from Professor Jean Ziegler. Professor Ziegler is a former professor of 
sociology at the University of Geneva and the Sorbonne.  Currently Vice President of the Advisory 

positions in the U.N. including the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food from 2000-2008. He 



against humanity in July 1996.  He was the chief lawyer in the Spanish case against Pinochet. He 
struggled for a long time against impunity of dictators and had been instrumental in bringing to 
justice some notorious perpetrators of crimes against humanity.

I will then intervene as representative of the families of the victims. 

Then will come the role of the chairs of the panel. They will at the end of the hearing make some 
recommendations towards the United Nations and its Special Procedures. 

a distinguished career as a trial and appellate counsel, an international judge, also President 

but he also made a publication on crimes against humanity which is a landmark in this kind 
of literature. Mr. Robertson is also a constitutional and criminal lawyer who is well known in 
England and Europe. He started as an appeal judge as I said in the Special Court for Sierra 

session and then the afternoon session and by the end of the day, we will be able to have ready 
some recommendations requesting an independent commission of inquiry from the U.N.



Indictment
Session 1

By Kirsty Brimelow (QC)

Thank you very much Tahar for the welcome and introduction, and can I add my welcome to you 

and then we can discuss further and there will be more commentary and you can see what you 
think, and then we can come to a conclusion as to why there is not already an independent 

what is a crime against humanity.

the civilian population. Systematic or widespread and then you look at the underlying elements. 
Here we have underlying elements of murder, torture, imprisonment or severe deprivation of 
physical liberty in violation of fundamental rules of international law, persecution against an 

as has been recognised, the crime of rape.
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Fundamentally, crimes against humanity are inhumanity and they are the most serious crimes. 

them directly.

knowledge was there because much of the evidence that we have and that the UN is being asked 
to act upon has emerged much more in recent years. That is why the case is ready now to move 
on to the next stage. 

between Farsi and English, the meaning is extremely clear. It is decreed that those who are in 

translates as hypocrites - Mojahedin) are waging war on God and are condemned to execution.

“Those who are making the decisions must not hesitate, nor show any doubt or concern about 

of crimes against humanity? First, we can see just from that one order that the order contains a 
direction that all those, irrespective of whatever potential defence they might have, all those who 

execution must occur, so no judicial process. 

or have loyalty to a grouping, the Mojahedin.

The fatwa makes it extremely clear because it says as the treacherous Monafeqin (Mojahedin) do 
not believe in Islam, and what they say is out of deception and hypocrisy, therefore they should 
be condemned to death. Strong evidence; beliefs, speaking out of deception, hypocrisy even if 
true, cannot be a crime, certainly not a crime justifying a judicial death penalty sentence. Even on 
the surface of the fatwa, it is teeming with evidence of crimes against humanity.

not disputed, they are in fact embraced by those who are still in high positions of power in Iran. 

There was also an audio tape which was released in August 2016 which was actually a recording 
of the ongoing discussions into the process of the executions that happened in 1988.

considered to be a hardliner, even he questioned the fatwa. The response from the Supreme 



very clear, support for a belief, a political belief, support for an ideology is equal to execution. He 

Again, due process, trial, consideration of evidence, representation by a lawyer, appeal system - 
nothing.

no room for appeal.

what was going on in 1988 and many of you will know he ended up under house arrest in 

of the crimes against humanity that were ongoing in 1988. So, knowledge of being part of a 

discussion between those involved in the executions and the death commissions.

give no permission to execute a single one. However, they were all killed.

any dispute from the judge who was supposed to be in charge, or where there was consideration 

able to come through with his view and the execution carried out.

any further which no doubt would happen in a tribunal, as to other breaches of international law, 
there are multiple breaches against the convention against torture, the convention of the rights of 

will comply with those provisions.

but they very quickly became known as death commissions and their name is chillingly telling. 
The hearings, such as they were, lasted it seems from the evidence around 2 or 3 minutes and 
there have been many reports and much evidence of the questions that people faced before these 
hearings. Essentially, they included a necessity to renounce loyalty to Mojahedin.

and then there was another wave of death commissions to deal with the agnostics, the atheists, 
the apostates. 



Republic? Hesitation, wrong answer or not convincing enough in an answer or in one case the 
man said, ‘I have only just renounced the Mojahedin, how can you now expect me to carry on 

The executions in terms of numbers? Many of you will be familiar that originally there were 
many protests about what was going on in Iran in 1989 and there were many challenges as to 
what was happening and Amnesty International released a report in 1990 where it considered 

least 30,000 people because of course, originally it was considered that the death commissions 

that number of killings in such a short period. 

The killings themselves, the hangings - again evidence has been obtained which shows that there 
were hangings from cranes, multiple hangings at the same time and a conveyor belt-type system 

clearing out the prisons. People who had already received a prison sentence, had gone through 
a judicial process of sorts and were sentenced to prison, were then resentenced under the death 
commission and sentenced to death. People who had been released from prison were swept up 

judicial, extra-legal killings was what happened, of that you can be sure, but you would need 
to hear the evidence and we cannot do that in this gathering, but this is what needs to be done 
before a tribunal. 

have been sentenced by our courts to prison terms, to execute them without due process and 
new charges against them is a complete disregard for all judicial standards. Many people who 

uncovered in recent years.

placed in danger and disappeared. This is an ongoing crime. Amnesty International was recently 
protesting against the destruction of forensic evidence, the bulldozing of one of the mass graves 
and calling upon Iran to stop that bulldozing. 



Another reason to act now is that the evidence is being shredded, concreted over, contaminated, 
being destroyed and its obviously being done deliberately. 

carried out, been part of the crimes against humanity, are set out within the reports and 60 names 
in total have been released publicly and many of those names are in very high positions not only 

whereby it can be considered a face-less crime where the exact identity of the perpetrators cannot 
be evidenced in order to bring charge, in order to arrest or start a due process against them. The 

in Iran. Pausing and thinking about that, not only does that indicate what process is necessary 
here, we cannot have a procedure of Iran investigating itself for the reason that those who are 
investigated are those with huge incentive to derail or interfere with any investigation. It would 
not be an independent investigation and there can be no doubt about that procedurally. So, it has 
to be independent of Iran because of the people who are being investigated. 

coincidence that after the protests in January 2018 we are already seeing the bodies of ten of those 
protesters with the lines coming out of the Iranian state that they have either killed themselves in 
prison or were drug addicts and died through some drug addiction or, in one case, there was a 

in prison? This is unacceptable, ongoing torture and those thousands who remain in prison must 
still be at risk which is one reason why we need to move quickly, urgently even though we are 
now at a point 30 years on from 1988, there need to be urgent movement now. 

Pour-Mohammadi is now the advisor to the chief of the judiciary, Ali Razini is the head of the 
41st branch of the supreme court. Mohammad Moghisseh, there is much evidence of his direct 
involvement in the executions including physically escorting prisoners to the place of execution, 
he is president of the 28th branch of the revolutionary court. Hossein-Ali Nayyeri is head of the 
supreme disciplinary court for judges. So, he is in the disciplinary branch of over-seeing the 
judges, he is vice-president of the supreme court. How could it possibly make any sense let alone 
comply with any procedural normality for Iran to carry out its own investigations with suspects 
in such positions.

30-year anniversary of this massacre, it is time that international law regains its teeth, its strength 
and that an independent inquiry is set up to investigate this widespread, systematic, inhumane, 
barbaric, medieval crime against humanity. 

Thank you.



Witness Statements

Mostafa Naderi

My name is Mostafa Naderi. I was arrested in 1981 for 

their publications. Immediately after being arrested, 
they placed me under interrogation and torture for 
eight days including beating, lashing with cable, 
hanging from the ceiling and other forms of torture.

The regime started to separate the prisoners based 
on their sentences and political belief two years before the start of the massacre.

code with my adjoining cell.

Prior to the start of the massacre they were repeatedly saying that “we will solve the problem of 
political prisoners and will not allow any of you to get out of the prison alive”.

And in 1988, the regime took the opportunity to start the massacre. Personally I witnessed that 

(Orbisswiss Photos Geneva)
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belongings were placed in a bag in front of their cells. They took me away for interrogations a 

The reason why I never reached the Death Commissions was that due to the torture and internal 
bleeding, I had developed kidney failure. At the time I was taken to the prison hospital and I was 

me name, but I could not answer them because I was unconscious, so they did not take me away. 
At that time, when they were clearing out the wards, they did not have enough time to check the 
list of names and they took the prisoners away ward by ward and then, as I heard later, it was in 

or the crimes or anything else. 
  

took them away but they never returned them. 

Finally, when we returned to the ward, I just realized that they had executed all the prisoners and 
as far as I know and the statistics that I collected from other prisoners and their wards, there were 

Zohreh Bijanyar

During the massacre of political prisoners in 1988, 

spending seven years in prison and enduring 
torture and ill-treatment along with more than 
30,000 other political prisoners. 

At the time of her arrest, Zahra was 24, was newly 
married and pregnant, but lost her baby under 

never had the right to a lawyer to defend her and 

houses. She told me on one occasion that she had been wearing the same shirt for six months. 

a smile on her face during the prison visits. This is while her cellmates talked about her beatings 
at the hands of guards. I went to visit her in that summer, exactly on 19 July 1988, the day after 

and said that they were preparing something, they moved and grouped everyone, may God help 
us, and then, with her hand, she pointed out that they would kill everyone, but unfortunately I 
did not believe it. 

Then the family visits were cancelled and everyone was anxious and very concerned. The news 
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almost three months, families were going to prisons to get news about their loved ones, but they 
were faced with insult and violence from prison authorities. Families also gave money for the 

sound of gunshots and cries all night, they are killing everyone, we have had to leave our homes.” 

Those days, nobody wanted or could believe the massacre of more than 30,000 political prisoners 

by making phone call to the families. And at the same time they banned the families from having 
any mourning ceremonies. The families never knew why their relatives were suddenly executed 
after being so many years in prison, even those who had served their times and were supposed 
to be released. And the families did not know where and when their loved ones were buried.

Tens of thousands of families, like my own family, after 29 years, still do not know what happened 
to their loved ones in that dark summer, why and when they were massacred and where they 
were buried. Since 1988, families have contacted international human rights organizations, 

world has and still is silent. 

Today, members of the Death Commissions and perpetrators of the massacre of 1988 in the 
Iranian judicial system have important posts and continue with the execution of their opponents. 
The families of the massacred inmates are always threatened and harassed, and whenever they 
dare to seek justice for their loved ones, they end up in jail. Today, the world must be informed 
about what has happened and continues to happen to the people of Iran. Perpetrators of this 
great crime should be tried in international tribunals for crimes against humanity.

Can criminals hide themselves and the world remain silent? History teaches us “no”.

My sister loved life. She wanted us to wear colourful dresses during our prison visits in order 

buds after a cold and long winter, and that how the oppressors could not stop the movement and 
dynamism of life.

Still, elder parents are looking for a sign of their loved ones in the cemeteries, and many of them 



passed away with a heavy heart and with no answers to their questions. This is an essential right 
of the families to know what happened in that dark summer to their loved ones. 

Yahya Shojai

and there were no human rights, and some 

now that there is the United Nations and there 
are human rights, the UN does not deal with 
the genocides. There is a repressive regime in 
Iran that commits genocide. 

for doubt at all. Mostafa Pour-Mohammadi 

representative on earth? In this civilized world?! For sure he is not. No he is not. Therefore, he has 

And now I come to my story. My younger son was barely 16 years old when he was executed 

political and had done nothing. They arrested her because of her family and sentenced her to 

crushed under the beatings and torture. Then they told her to go to hospital for treatment at her 

they did not free him. He should have been released but they held him in prison for a couple 
more months and executed him during the massacre. 

sentenced to three years in prison but was not freed and was executed during the massacre in 
prison.

He was released after his prison term ended and he came home but he was rearrested later, and 
they executed him during the massacre. 
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It is a pity that the United Nations has hidden behind the shows that the medieval mullahs put 
on and does not do anything. 

These prisoners had all served their prison terms but they took them away and executed them. 
And after the executions, they did not even hand over their bodies to us. My brother who was there 
said they only showed us a grave and made the families to pay for the graves of their executed 
loved ones. This is the crime that has taken place, there were massacres in Serbia and Chile and 

This regime must stop its export of fundamentalism and pursuit of a nuclear bomb. The regime 
has its hands on these two issues and the United Nations and the world are watching when the 

I would like to say that 12 members of my family have been executed, 12 people. 

the room that many people are very moved by what you have said about your family because in 
total you lost 12 members of your family. I have a question to ask you because it is relevant to a 

torture physical beatings or was it another type of torture as well?

into pieces and she could only walk on her knees. Now, what they have done to her is something 

an appointment with a doctor or receive proper medical treatment in hospital, they took her 
away and executed her. It is clear what kind of tortures they apply when they torture a girl. I just 
cannot describe it. 



Ramezan Mousavi

I am Ramezan Mousavi. I was arrested in 

to Evin Prison and after a long time I was 
transferred to the Ghezelhesar Prison and in 
1988 to Sari Prison in Mazandaran province.

Today I want to tell you about my recollection 
of the massacre, as well as the tortures that were 

hospital, denial of access to dentist and lowering the food rations, which meant we never had 
enough food.

asking them a few questions and retuning them to the ward. This continued for about six to 
seven months. 

Then they started calling our names one by one to go to another room, but we did not know how 

few questions and then sending them back. 

after a while we found out that those prisoners had been executed. All the time we thought they 
were being kept in other wards or cells. After three months they returned, and we were taken 

out what had happened. The way we found out was when they took one of the prisoners to 

I know that on 29 July that year, 29 prisoners were taken to the forests in the outskirts of Sari and 

to 30 prisoners had been executed.

I hope one day soon, those responsible for the massacre will face justice. Thank you.
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Ehsan Niakan

including in Evin, Ghezelhesar and 
Heshmatiyeh prisons in Tehran, as 
well as in Semnan. I was arrested again 
following the 2009 uprising and I was 

but I was able to leave the country and 
now I am here before you. 

about the painful and unthinkable 
catastrophe, during which, according 
to the (former) deputy minister of 
intelligence, Mr. Reza Malek, who is 
currently in Evin prison, more than 

33,000 political prisoners who had already received prison sentences were executed. I am one 
of the survivors of the 1988 massacre and I faced the death commission several times, a death 
commission whose members were Hossein-Ali Nayyeri, Mostafa Pour-Mohammadi, Morteza 
Eshraqi, and Zamani. And they condemned three members of my family to death, including 
Hamid-Reza Nazari, Hossein Niakan and Zahra Niakan who was only 19 years old when she 
was arrested in September 1988, and we have no news about her until today. The regime did not 
say whether they executed her or if she is in prison, and we have no trace of her. 

Hamid-Reza Nazari was arrested on 29 June 1981, and I have here before you his verdict according 

about him either, and there is no trace, and the regime does not say whether he is in prison or that 
he was executed. They did not even give us any of his personal belongings. He was sentenced 

He had spent part of his sentence in Evin and part of it in Ghezelhesar prison and during the 

family kept going to Evin and other prisons in Tehran as well as Gonbad prison but until now 
they have not been given any news or trace about his fate or whereabouts. 

Zahra Niakan was 19 years of age when she was arrested in late September 1988. Until this 
moment, no one in the regime, no department, and no institution has said whether she is in 

Hossein Niakan, the one in the middle in this photo, was arrested on 28 June 1981 and sentenced 

go free and they kept him in Ghezelhesar prison for another two years and one month, and Haj 

torture in Ghezelhesar prison. 

Today I want to testify as someone who was arrested in 2009. It is true that this regime created 
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executions of 1988, such as the prosecutor named Mohebbi who was interrogating me in 2009. 

explicitly said we made a mistake not executing you in 1988. 

After they executed Hossein (Niakan) on 14 August 1988, they took me to the so-called court two 
days later on 16 August 1988 and when I entered the court, they asked my name and when I said 

was spared because I came from another prison and they were transferring me to Zanjan prison 

torture and when he saw me in this condition, he said take him outside. 

were more confrontational to seek their rights they would stand against the authorities. For 

toward the prisoners who were about 43 people in a room and threatened them saying that our 
turn will come too. The threats were such that the prisoners would realize the condition is being 
prepared for a series of painful events.

with the prisoners, for example on the guild issues, he would say that you will see later how we 
will mangle you into pieces, and two years later this happened. 

refrigerated trailer in front of ward 209 with its refrigerator turned on which was used for the 
transfer of the bodies after executions. 

place where they used to keep a wheelbarrow to collect the slippers of the prisoners who were 
executed and they poured the slippers on the ground on top of each other making it like a hill.

At the time of the transfer from ward 209 to solitary cells, one of the guards said they are killing 

massacre.

who have been waiting for so long would see that day. Those of you who can hear us, come and 
answer these mothers after 29 years. They are still waiting for an answer about their children who 
have been executed. Tell them; they want to know if their children have a grave. Come tell them 
all of this. 



Sima Mirzaei

Fourteen members of my family 
had been executed in the prisons of 

are the photos of executed members 
of my family (Sima lifts up the photos 
for the audience to see). Seven of them 
were executed in the summer of 1988 
while serving prison terms.

I wish this hearing took place 10 years 
ago, when my mother was still alive. 

things that had been happening in the 
prisons and what the prisoners had to 
go through. She would have told you 

also tortured and murdered the parents and family members. Two of my brothers and two of my 
sisters were among those executed in summer of 1988.

when she was 22. She was tortured for 2 months and she died due to torture. Her body was not 
released to us. My father asked the prison authorities to release her body for burial. They told my 

the authorities revealed the place of her burial, it became a shrine for the family. 

group of Revolutionary Guards surrounded the house and kept watching it for a few days. They 

by her hair and forced her to run around the room. They set up an ambush for my brother and 
arrested him on his way into the house and took him away.

was constantly under torture. After about one year, Hossein was denied any prison visits for 6 
months. My mother wanted to see him, but they told her that Hossein is banned from any visits. 
My mother went to Gohardasht, Evin and Ghezelhesar Prisons to look for him but got nowhere. 

dead. Finally, through one of our relatives who was also imprisoned in Evin Prison and while 
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He said Hossein had been in quarantine for six months.

This is how we found out that Hossein was still alive. After 6 months in quarantine he was 
sentenced by a judge called Nayyeri, one of the members of the “Death Commission”. He was 

noticed the mistake, he hit him badly and returned him to Evin Prison. Upon his return, Hossein 

Hossein is banned from receiving any visits. He was executed on 26 August 1988.

My younger brother, Mostafa, was only 16 years old when he was arrested. Imagine what a 

the guards raided the house and arrested Mostafa. The guards raided the house at about 2am, 

want to take him, take me with you too. The guards kept quiet and took Mostafa with them. My 
mother told all of us that we may be next and advised us to go somewhere else to stay. My sister, 

near dawn, she found the guards in the house, looking for Masoumeh, my sister. Since they could 

my father that they will release them when Masoumeh is delivered to the prison authorities. 

were covered with blood and swollen. He could not hold himself up. Upon seeing him in this 

that Mostafa was under torture for the entire night.

Mostafa was sentenced to seven years of prison by Nayyeri (who later became a member of the 

and what is your crime? Mostafa gave his name and the crime he was charged for, i.e. supporter 

Mojahedin, and he was executed on 10 July 1988. I salute him. 

My sister, Masoumeh was 18 when arrested. She was a high school student and was carrying a 

was living in the city of Hamedan at the time. My father bailed her, and she was released. She 

Mashhad which was like a safe-house for us. Masoumeh was living in this house when arrested. It 



arrested Masoumeh, my in-law, Mahnaz and other relatives present in the house at the time. They 
were taken to Vakil-Abad Prison in Mashhad and then transferred to Evin Prison. The information 
that reached us indicated that Masoumeh was kept in Evin Prison for 102 days before she was 

alone, she had God with her.

My parents had to take care of two of their grand children whose parents were in prison. Despite 

Ghezelhesar Prison, driving for more than 6 hours and going to Hamedan, every week. Masoumeh 
had asked my mother not to come every week, especially in the winter. My mother ignored her 
request and said, “I have only 90 minutes of visit every week, I cannot miss the opportunity, you 
are my daughter”.

colour of her teeth black like her hair. She was executed on 4 August 1988, alongside with many 
other prisoners in Hamedan. Few prisoners in that prison survived.

were all tortured including Mahnaz who was pregnant. Due to ill treatment she received while 

conditions, she would not make it. They guided her to the washroom and helped her escape from 

1982. She had a one-year old daughter at the time. She was kept with her In Evin Prison. She was 
holding her daughter while being tortured. After a while, she agreed to let her daughter be taken 
out of the prison. She said she did not want her daughter around while being tortured. Mahnaz 
was sentenced to 12 years in prison. She was a very kind and strong girl. She was always a helping 

10 August 1988.

the time. The caller insisted that they would like to speak to Mr. Mirzaei and will call back. They 
called back, and my father answered. It was Thursday night when they called. They asked my 

Mostafa was arrested, he was riding a motor bike.  The caller said that they have decided to give 



My father was shocked. Just imagine, you are called to receive the motor bike of your son, but 
instead you receive the news of his execution and a bag of his personal belongings. My father did 
not know what to do, the world had come to an end for him. To make the situation more painful, 
they asked him to sign a paper promising not to arrange for any funeral and mourning rituals 
under the threat of doing the same to the rest of his imprisoned children. My father then was 
brought home with the help of the other families.

For four consecutive weeks, we received a phone call every Thursday, asking us to go to the 

call was about my brother Hossein and for four consecutive weeks, my father went to the Central 

family members. 

door. The guards removed it and replaced it with a note saying, “Death to the Mojahedin”.

And so, days, weeks and months passed. They neither gave their bodies to us nor told us about 

of our family members who had been executed. After about one year, we were called and asked 

My other sister who was executed in 1981, was buried in section 91 and we were given her tomb 

in it.

As my father and sister were looking for new tombs where Mostafa might have been buried, 
they met another mother, known as Mother Ali, whose son had been executed in 1981. Mother 

cemetery.  She and others discretely kept those trucks in sight. They saw that the authorities were 
dumping bodies in the big ditch in the vicinity of section 93. The bodies were then covered with 
earth. My father concluded that this was the burial place of his sons.

she should cooperate with him and in return he would reveal the burial places of her children. 

out from the prison.



Conclusion of Session 1
By Kirsty Brimelow

Thank you, Ms. Mirzaei? So, in a very short session 
we have evidence which supports crimes against 

murder, torture, imprisonment, severe deprivation 
of physical liberty in violation of international law, 
persecution and many examples of inhumane acts 

injury physically or also mentally. Much evidence 
of that including torture being carried out on 
women - one particular woman with her one-year-

three direct eye witnesses from the prisons of what 
they saw in the prison. The systematic organization 
and transporting of the bodies in refrigerated truck. 
The stacking up of the shoes and slippers of those 

of really serious harm and sexual torture. Families wiped out. Sima Mirzaei; they did not just kill 

no legal action by the UN with all this evidence now since 1988, particularly in the last few years. 

desperately seeking information, evidence of lack of judicial process, they are killing everyone. 

to grieve but not knowing, not having a body, not being allowed having any religious rights 
over their loved ones. Not being allowed answers. Mass graved the indignity, the anonymity, the 

investigation and a tribunal and for a due process that was denied to their loved ones. So, thank 

condolences because the words will only seem very shallow to you; but you can see the reaction 

if it is not to investigate the 1988 massacre? Thank you and thank you to all our witnesses.

(Photo by The Media Express)



Expert Opinions
Session 2

statements by witnesses and their accounts of the 1988 massacre of political prisoners.

Juan Garcés

I am very deeply moved by hearing the witness statements to which we have just listened, and 
it reminded me, since we are speaking of the United Nations, of what the major crimes were; 

generals, at the time he was preparing to invade Poland. He invoked the necessity of major 
massacres of the Slav population in order to leave room for the occupation of its territory by the 

rise to a great problem with the international community abroad; they will protest when they 

of the 20th Century in Armenia, and its memory was lost.   The fact that its memory had been 
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lost was, for Hitler, one of the reasons for saying 

then, the rights agreed at Nuremberg, the rights 
agreed at The Hague, the rights agreed at Geneva 
were developed precisely in order to prevent and 
punish crimes like those of which we have just 

even in the midst of the sorrow of remembering 
and recalling them, in homage to the victims, I 

positive but necessary, in order to remember 

impunity prevailed while the norm is that justice 
must be done.

I come from a country which has also known tremendous crimes, of similar magnitude, at the 

feeling of solidarity against crimes of this nature, which is why I am very happy to say that the 

law whose victims were Iranians resident in Camp Ashraf (Iraq). And it was from 2009 onwards 
that I had the privilege to submit to the Spanish courts a complaint of violation of the Geneva 
Convention on behalf of the residents of Ashraf since 2004. The Spanish court conducted an 

were summoned to be heard and requests of information were addressed to the Iraqi government, 

violation of the Fourth Geneva Convention.   

Ashraf in the year 1986, and after the invasion of Iraq in 2004, the troops acting on the authority 

no civil rights, and no rights to anything.   They were subjected to a siege, with restrictions of every 

them to sounds that amounted to torture, “white sound” day and night, some residents were 
arrested and tortured, others disappeared, which means that there were serious violations of 
the Geneva Convention. This Convention, which was signed by many countries, including Iraq 
and Spain, grants law courts the right and even the obligation to prosecute crimes of this nature; 
this Convention that was agreed and dictated just after the great massacres and war crimes of 
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and therefore wanted to provide the international community with a legal instrument to pursue 

pressures. Spanish domestic law today tells the judge who was exercising the universal jurisdiction 
and able to prosecute violations of the Geneva Convention abroad, you can only prosecute 

United Nations have granted themselves in order to prosecute crimes of this nature. And that is 
just what I am inviting the organisations that are represented here today, to conduct an inquiry 

tribunals are applying themselves to prosecute. For the prosecution of these crimes requires 
cooperation between international organisations and national law courts.   It is only to the extent 

a meeting like this one, remembering what was heard this morning, is not only a homage to the 
victims of yesterday, but also a contribution to the present generation.

I too shall express myself in French.  I shall try to be 
brief because I see that our time is limited, and to face 
the main question which was raised in a fairly clear 
manner, without answering it by trying, as was done 

nothing been done yet, at the international level, by 
the United Nations?   

I was, perhaps for too many years, the Secretary-

1988, an indefeasible crime against humanity, and we 

of view, for demanding that justice be done, without 
fear of a problem with courts refusing to pronounce 

judgment because of the time elapsed.   There is no time limitation for crimes of this type, so one 

by the regime, to analyse the way in which, up to now, with, it must be said, a certain degree of 

all penalties.   

There have been economic sanctions applied by the Americans, but I should like to refer 
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violates two fundamental principles, and the fact is that there has been no penalty.

Jouannet, I collaborated in this work, its principled objections to impunity. The struggle against 
impunity is the only element that gives a guarantee of non-repetition. I think that so long as 

is a risk.  

their crimes. These principles have been systematically violated by Iran, continually, since the 
beginning of the regime, and I must remind you that we are commemorating forty years of this 

opportunity, on the one hand through our programme of assistance to victims, to hear what the 
victims had to say, and above all what type of torture they had undergone, from those who had 
survived.   I also had the opportunity to make a record of the systematic policy, carried out from 
the very beginning, for eliminating all opposition;  that is to say, murders within the country, but 
also outside the country, in order to make sure that there was no possibility of an alternative to 
the regime which was establishing itself. 

The Mojahedin were among its victims, and there too we have an impasse, because these crimes, 
these murders, and it is well known here in Geneva, have never been punished, and I am thinking 

ones, but you know well that the regime sent assassins out of the country, sent them to carry out 
the task, in the same way that people were sent into prisons, people in prisons were ordered to 
execute Mojahedin who were imprisoned and other opposition members.  

more success in the future?

First, I think that when one sums up, one must take everything into account. This morning, when 

be presented as it is, but to document what really happened.   This work was done.   It was done 

number of murders.   



return presently to the way in which torture was organised, and why it produced a certain result, 

the country, or in stopping the international movements on this subject.   The United Nations 

This constant mobilisation also has some results that I should like to emphasise;  because, in the 

when Camp Ashraf was encircled and the Iranian Revolutionary Guards were passing from 
one frontier to the other, with the blessing of the Iraqi authorities, that the Americans who had 
undertaken, from the moment when these combatants laid down their arms, to consider them to 
be protected persons, that the Geneva Conventions also protected them, in spite of all that, the 
risk of seeing that massacre being carried out on foreign territory was, unfortunately, extremely 

those who were in the camp.  And I believe that this task of mobilising the resistance members, 

terrorising the local population, in order to make sure that there would be no alternative, no 
viable opposition to take power on the day when the regime crumbled;  but the other element 
was also, and I believe these two elements of be contradictory, it was also to demonstrate that 
the regime was in a strong position in the face of the outside world, that it was in control of the 
situation, and that even if it was brutal, it was a partner with whom it was possible to work.   

this many times, was hardly ever being used to make people speak.   It is being used, almost 
systematically, to try to destroy their humanity.   It is being used, and this is the way one of my 

same time, in order to reassure their partners, they were trying, on the contrary, to show that the 
regime was behaving, I was going to say more or less in conformity, because it never said it was 
in conformity, with international rules.   It can be seen in the inquiries into the 1988 massacres.   

if it was done in a hurry, it was planned in such a way as to prevent the population from reacting, 
while at the same time terrifying them.   

These 30,000 people eliminated were those who represented opposition, dissent, and I was going 
to say, because of their being eliminated in such brutal circumstances, it automatically had an 



society that had hopes on them.   So there, that goal was clearly aimed at in this manner.    At the 

details because there are too many. From July onwards access for families of the prisoners was 
limited, forbidden, they were told about displacements, etc.   So a certain blackout was created by 

is after the delay that the Muslim world respects for funerals, it was after the forty days that the 
families were called, not as a group but one by one, and with that surfeit of cruelty of which we 
heard just now,  the death of the prisoners was announced to them, and a death that was all the 
more inexplicable because among those dead were to be found some people who had already 
been freed and who were coming back simply to have their authorisations countersigned and 
who were detained and eliminated.  So, the deaths were announced to them, they were not given 
the bodies, they were given this piece of paper in which they were told that they had no right to 
organise funerals, that they had no right to receive condolences, that they must keep quiet and if 

After that, when they looked for the bodies, they were given false addresses, that is to say you 
know that people who went to the cemeteries, to the tombs, noticed that in reality the tomb 
was an old one and they had been given a random number to mislead them.   So, there was an 

the extent could be known.   A certain amount of time was needed to discover that the number 

there really was a certain increase in the number of executions, but either it was claimed that they 

events like this one, like others at the United Nations, etc.

the regime, in fact a harsh tendency which had been the one that had pushed them towards 

And that led to its being impossible to hold the Rajavi court case in Geneva, because of a French 
political problem.    The perpetrators were in France, had been arrested in France, at the end of 

was also mentioned this morning, if the trial was pursued to the limit, it would be shown that 
those who today are occupying pre-eminent posts in justice, security, etc., were the perpetrators 
who ought to be judged.   That is why the French Minister of the time, Charles Pasqua, who had 

perpetrators in these two cases back to Tehran.   At the time, I had had the opportunity to discuss 



we must also think in terms of realpolitik. If the regime opens up, we must go in its direction, 

law but which unfortunately predominates today in too many so-called human rights cases.   
Ever since the Human Rights Commission, which was certainly biased in some aspects, which 

pursuing a case to the end. It should be required. The United Nations mechanisms are weak on 

why universal powers can be put into practice as was indicated earlier; there are conditions of 

returning  “blaming and shaming”, the members of the Human Rights Council, the General 
Assembly, especially in these cases when they are led to making decisions, there is a risk of 
having yet another debate that will lose itself in quibbles on the question of knowing whether or 

creating emergency courts, and of having, in the other courts, judges who had already passed 

ourselves again running into the sand. 

commission of inquiry which has been spoken of, which is essential, but it is also necessary, on 
the other hand, to imagine how, once the inquiry is over, the perpetrators of these extortionate 
deeds will be concretely judged and by whom, because, placed where they are and in the present 

the present state of justice in Iran, to be able to give a satisfactory judgment.   

Thank you.



Jean Ziegler

First of all, let me thank you for your invitation.   

UN Human Rights Council is a subsidiary organ 
of the Human Rights Council, which is the third 
most important body of the United Nations 
after the General Assembly and the Security 

international experts proposed by their respective 
countries, but after election by the Council, they 
are totally independent, and at the moment I 

Rights Council, which prepares dossiers, which 
makes proposals, which executes mandates, etc.  

and has reacted accordingly, in connection with 

and recall the martyrdom of about 33,000 young and not so young women and men of Iran 

of the murderers who are still, some of them, in power and at work, how to hand them over to 
international justice which is the mechanism created to put an end to this totally scandalous 
impunity.

I should like to begin with a few preliminary remarks. First, my profound condolences addressed 
to the families, to the survivors of the massacres, to the families of those who have lost martyrs 
not only in the 1988 massacre but in the massacres that have continued until today.  

Secondly, I should like to recall very rapidly the situation in which we are speaking today, which 

young people have demonstrated in over 30 towns, laying their lives on the line. They face arrest, 
torture and murder, and they know it. They know that they are risking their lives, according to 

1988.   They are demanding freedom, democracy, respect for human rights, and they are certainly 
fed by the heroic example of the martyrs of 1988.  So, there is an altogether extraordinary topicality 

National Council of Resistance of Iran, at the Human Rights Commission, very active in civil 

has never been broken with the Human Rights Council, and the UN has been kept in touch 

because he was murdered in April 1989 in a village a few dozen kilometres from here at Tannay 
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speak in front of an audience like that one without honouring the work and the memory of that 

the crimes of the mullahs public.  I should like, because we were very close, he was a professor in 
the same university that I was, in Geneva, a member of the same party, the Parti Socialiste Genois 

long time with one of my colleagues who was a State Councillor in charge of Justice and Police in 

Now hope has arisen with these demonstrations of a few days ago, a few weeks ago, and that 
will certainly go on, and that are also being paid for with the blood of those who demonstrated. 

and heroines of 1988 is being reincarnated, reincarnated in the young generation which is rising 

or three points of history that are important and that allow me to put into context what I shall be 
asking in the second series of remarks.

see the President of the Swiss Confederation who at the time was Pierre Graber, and Graber had 

was saved, and quite naturally became, together with the Mojahedin, the principal force, the most 

the enemies of God with me,” that is to say, to install Islamist dictatorship.   And the Mojahedin 

democracy, independence, serenity and human rights  in Iran.”   And there was a rupture.   And 

the worst moment, the turning point, as the Mojahedin say, was 20 June 1981, before the meeting 



that culminated, I repeat, in 1988.   There were never any negotiations later, it was pitiless fascist 
clerical violence against a movement, against men and women of all generations, of all religions 
too, who were demanding, once again, the installation of democracy, of freedom, and who were 
demonstrating, that which is still tremendous today among the Mojahedin, for example, or the 
NCRI in general, a democratic Islam, an enlightened Islam. 

the whole world, because they are a leading force among Muslims. There are 1.1 billion Muslims 
in the world, among whom there are appalling perversions, you know, the Jihadists, the Iranian 

of a democratic Islam, of an enlightened Islam, of an Islam which incarnates all the immense 
Iberian heritage of Averroes, of all the very great Islamic thinkers and scholars, of the period of 
what is called enlightened Islam, that of Cordoba, that of the 12th, 13th, 14th centuries, that of 
Aranjuez, Granada, etc., the Mojahedin have often been called the torch-bearers of the second 
enlightened Islam.   And this is why this Iranian Resistance movement which is being carried 
out not only in the name of the values which I mentioned just now, but in the name of Islam, and 
most of the friends I have among the Mojahedin are deeply religious, they are deeply religious 
Muslims, they are men and women of faith, but a tolerant faith, a faith that is faithful to the 

importance.     

our freedom and yours”, addressed to the occupying troops defending an appalling Czarist 

course, but also for yours, also for yours,” and the Mojahedin or the NCRI, one can say, are in 

Islam, we need coexistence, collaboration, peaceful cooperation.   It has a universal dimension, 

weeks ago, in over thirty towns in Iran.   There is an organic, almost physical link between them 

Now I am coming to the second series of my remarks, and that is why our solidarity must not 

dictators who have been there for 39 years, unpunished, go on with their abusive acts, and I have 
here Fallen for Freedom (book), the NCRI has published the list of 20,000 martyrs, out of the 
120,000 who have probably fallen since the beginning of the dictatorship of the mullahs.   Here 



again, of all these martyrs, all these martyrs who are continuing to fall for our freedom, and this 
impunity must stop.   

Several speakers before me have demanded that the UN hold this inquiry and I congratulate and 
thank the High Commissioner for Human Rights who has sent some observers here, who has 
said that there was a crime against humanity there, there was a crime against humanity - a crime 

“For the purpose of this Statute, “crime against humanity” means any of the following acts when 

(a)     Murder;
(b)     Extermination;
(c)     Enslavement;
(d)     Deportation or forcible transfer of population;
(e)     Imprisonment or other severe deprivation of physical liberty in violation of fundamental 
rules of international law;
(f)     Torture;
(g)     Rape, sexual slavery, enforced prostitution, forced pregnancy, enforced sterilization, or any 
other form of sexual violence of comparable gravity;

recognized as impermissible under international law, in connection with any act referred to in 
this paragraph or any crime within the jurisdiction of the Court;
(i)     Enforced disappearance of persons;
(j)     The crime of apartheid;

injury to body or to mental or physical health.”   



perpetrators of these crimes against humanity.   It is perfectly easy, there is no problem about it, 
no legal or technical problem for the investigators, as with, for example, Augusto Pinochet or for 

village, in every province, in every town there was a Death Commission. As it was called a Death 

Next, there are those who then carried out the hangings and executions. These were the 

Minister of Justice is one of the killers who was instrumental in the mass murder in 1988.  

So we need a Commission of Inquiry from the United Nations. Eminent jurists, who are much 

Rights Council should set up a Commission of Inquiry into the 1988 massacre and the massacres 

who is one of those great jurists, and who has played an essential part for a long time at the 



we need a Special Tribunal, of course, we need the United Nations, the General Assembly of 
the United Nations, to create a Special Tribunal on Iran, on Iran, which will put an end to this 
impunity that has put humanity to shame. I shall end by thanking once again the civil society and 
the Iranian activists for having given me the opportunity to speak.

Tahar Boumedra

particularly international criminal law, I would like 
to point out two major cases that recently made a 
landmark in the international jurisprudence.

First, the International Court of justice (ICJ) in 

former President of Chad, who had been charged 
with crimes against humanity, held that there is 
the obligation to investigate and to prosecute or 

extraterritorial jurisdiction since the charges against 

that Senegal is unable to secure a fair trial for lack of 
funds. 

compromise whereby Senegal accepted to exercise extraterritorial jurisdiction after securing 

avoid embarrassment for Senegal and its member states. The right or rather the obligation to 

for life imprisonment. 

took place in Zimbabwe, and again it was thanks to the civil society this case was taken all the 
way up to the constitutional court of South Africa. The constitutional court made it an obligation 
of the government of South Africa to investigate crimes against humanity extraterritorially.  So 
that means crimes that took place in Zimbabwe. Zimbabweans were investigated by the police 
in South Africa. 

constitutional court was activated against him and he had to be smuggled out of the country to 
escape prosecution for crimes against humanity. 

against humanity. And also Professor Ziegler and all the eminent jurists around here agree that 
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what happened to the political prisoners in Iran in 1988 is a crime against humanity. And I would 
say that experts recognize a crime against humanity when they see it. This morning we saw 
survivors among the political prisoners who witnessed the massacre of the summer 1988 as well 
as members of the families of the victims of that massacre, and the experts are unanimous in their 
opinion that what happen in Iran in 1988 was a crime against humanity that must be investigated 
and the perpetrators much be held to account.

The major question left for us now to answer is what is the way forward?

Rapporteur on the Situation of Human rights in Iran. They all called for the government of Iran 
to investigate.  And if you have followed the reports of these special rapporteurs, all those calls 

are still calling for the annihilation of the opposition. 

So far, the U.N. has done a lot, but not enough because we need to see an investigation taking 
place. The recent Special Rapporteur on the Human Rights situation in Iran, Asma Jahangir, 

referred to this report and has presented in turn his own report to the General Assembly and to 
the Security Council. 

investigate, she went on again like her predecessors calling again on the government of Iran to 

stop shying away from facing the reality. If we stand by the rule of law, calling for the government 

international commission of inquiry, independent from the government of the Islamic Republic 
of Iran.

within the UN mechanisms for the promotion and protection of human rights, we have a Special 
Rapporteur concerned with torture. So we would like for him to be seized about this issue as 
well as the Special Rapporteur for Iran.  There is also the other Special Rapporteur concerning 
extrajudicial killings. This Special Rapporteur, we need her to get seized on this issue.  There is 

of the death of their loved ones.



to call on the High Commissioner for Human Rights to take his own initiative.

Commissioner for Human Rights is going to be instrumental if the special rapporteurs are to 

their forces together and issue a statement that requests an investigation. And individually, each 

of the guiding principles on investigating crimes against humanity, crimes of war and genocide.



Witness Statements
Session 3

Ezzat Habibnejad

Greetings to all of you and thank you for inviting me to this 

short, otherwise, I have experienced thirty years of torture and 

families, including my own, have endured.

My husband was arrested in September 1981, and I was 
arrested along with my one-year-old daughter two months 
later. My one-year-old daughter spent three months with me 

were three other children in the same room, all between the 

get any fresh air and never saw the light of day in those three 

much I begged them to allow me to send my child out of prison, they would refuse and stated 
not until the interrogations are over.
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Eventually the interrogations came to an end and I was able to send my child out of prison. I 
was released after two years and my husband was released after three and a half years. He was 
initially sentenced to three years of imprisonment and he was kept in prison for an extra six 

old, they raided our house again and arrested my husband.

They then told us that we found out that one of his friends, who was also an ex-political prisoner 
and had escaped to Europe, had called him. The extent of the call was to see how we were doing 

Every week on Thursdays, when we were allowed visits, I used to take my two children, Ehsan 
and Amineh, to go to prison to see him. That was until March, 1988 when suddenly the prison 
conditions and atmosphere changed.

All visit rights were suspended. Some prisoners were exiled to Tehran, including one of our close 

tense and peculiar. Every time we went for visit they would say you have no visits today.

situation. 

There were rumors going around Mashhad that they have executed a number of political 
prisoners, but none of us could believe it, especially since they all had prison terms, not execution 
sentences. Many mothers would say that they have been asked to provide bail and their children 
were to be released, but they too were banned from visit-ation rights.

Eventually time passed until 4 November 1988 when they called my father-in-law who lived in 

to you. There they told him that they had executed Mehdi two months ago, and they made him 

and threatened him that if you do so it will have heavy conse-quences for you and your other 
children. 

Reza Cemetery.



families of the ex-ecutions but would refuse to give the belongings of prisoners to the families.
They would only say that they were buried. Finally, we heard from one of the families who had 

executed in 1981, and I have a photo of it with me here today. I have both the pictures and videos 
of that section. 

He told them the second area where they were buried was near a demolished clay tower which 
was in the middle of a vast barren area. The third mass site he said was by the wall of the cemetery. 

I wish they were here today and they would describe the torment they lived through. In the 
mass grave by the tower, one of the mothers threw herself on the soil while grieving, then she felt 
an unpleasant smell coming from the ground so she started to push aside the dirt and sees the 

The families added new soil to the site and they put small stones in the area to make it look more 
like a cemetery.

and the authorities would bull-doze over them and would destroy it all. 

There were a few trees there, where the families and mourning mothers would go and sit under, 
to change their mood and have some peace, but unfortunately those trees were also axed down. 

Among those responsible and the perpetrators of the massacre in Mashhad, one was Razini who 
was the religious judge. He was ruthless. Another was Hosseini, who was the prison supervisor. 
And the other one was Valipour. These three played a major role in the massacre in Mashhad.

gravesite, nothing.

our voice, bring the perpetrators of these heinous crimes to face justice so history will learn and 
no murderer, no dictator would allow himself to massacre his own people.



important that you see prosecution of those who carried out the killings? So is the information 
about what happened and why people were killed more important than prosecutions?

call, a phone call which, was just to ask us how we were doing. And yes, they all have to be 
brought to justice! They have to be punished for their actions. 

example, the husbands of a few of my friends, that we had a close relationship with, the brothers 
of my friends or for example some of our acquaintanc-es who were friends of friends; I have their 
names. 

For example, there were families where the mother, father and brother of a woman were all 
executed, and what remains from this family is one girl whose, mother, father and brother have 
all been executed, three from one family.
I know families that two of their sons, Mohammad Reza Saeedi and Ali Saeedi, were victims, and 
the family re-ceived the news of the execution of both sons at the same time.

I can give them the pictures of those graves and give you the names.

Ehsan Qaraee

when he was executed I was two years old, so naturally I have 
no personal experience of the massacre in the context of the 
massacre itself, but I would like to address another aspect; an 
issue that may be overshadowed by the fact that the massacre is 
so massive and horrible that it remains in the shadows.

which I want to share with you and testify about is the torture 
that the families have been put through by the regime after the 
massacre. As one of the witnesses in the last panel stated, it 

they killed the whole family in various forms.

witnessed.

believes that there is a chance that the regime has not killed all the prisoners, and in particular 
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daily psychological torture which has continued for 30 years.

uncles, who were denied the right to enter universities or obtain government jobs due to family 
connections. The regime has used all means to deprive them of a normal life.

was 30 years old, and was severely tortured, which was not common for someone arrested on 
non-political charges. Under torture they would repeatedly tell him that we know that all of you 
are hypocrites; your whole generation should be uprooted. 

even arrested on such a charge, but he was executed under this pretext without a court hearing 
or a trial which you would at least expect in such a case where the charge was non-political.

I mentioned these three cases to show you that the massacre was not limited to the person 
executed in prison, and in that context, their families have been systematically tortured in the 
course of these thirty years. Exactly the same as the systematic massacre, the subsequent conduct 

this day as we are gathered here.

Razieh Parandak

My name is Razieh Parandak, I am the 

arrested in a demonstration in 1981 in the city 

had no evidence against him, they gave him 
a six-month prison term and the Sharia judge 
said that after the six months because of the 
holy month of Ramazan he would most likely 
be released. Six months passed but he was not 
released and was transferred to Ghezelhesar 
prison.

and that they will inform us when we can see him. It took almost three months before we could 

so crowded that one of the boys complained of breathing problem. The room had only a small 
window and four inmates at a time would take turns to go to the window to get fresh air. The 
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prisoners were lashed repeatedly that caused major kidney problems. The guards would restrict 
the access of the prisoners to bathrooms. They told us that the pressure was so much that they 

visit him in Gohardasht prison. Up to 1986 only the parents could visit prisoners in Gohardasht 
and after 1986 brothers and sisters could also visit their family members in prison. I went to see 
him with his sister who was 18 at the time but could not take his brother Manouchehr because he 

they routinely administered which the prisoners often did not mention to their families because 
they did not want their parents to feel bad. 

when he went to sign the form, he never returned. This made us very worried as we did not 

whereabouts, but they claimed that they had no knowledge and we should keep looking for him 

any trace of him. I went back to the Revolutionary Court and told them he had come here to sign 
on but did not return. They replied, he must have gone to see Massoud Rajavi.

the prisons and if anyone had seen him they would send a word through their relatives to let you 

and informed us that he is in Gohardasht prison.

I took the newspaper and went directly to the Revolutionary Court and told them the story that 
two people who were in prison had come to our home and informed us that they had seen him in 
Gohardasht. They told me so what do you want to do if he is in Gohardasht? I told them I want to 
see him and take him some clothes, toothbrush and money. The man said go and get the clothes 
and the items that you want to give him and take it to Gohardasht prison. I took the items with 

a month to try to visit my son, but they would never let me see him. They kept on saying that he 
was still awaiting a trial and as soon as he was done, visits would be allowed.

Prior to the 1988 massacres, when I tried to see my son, I met two other women whose sons were 

in the past month the authorities had refused permission for visitations. I kept on going every 



noticed that his watch had stopped on 19 August 1988. Upon hearing this, his father felt ill and 
came home with a taxi. He said that they had told him they executed your son and if you want 

They had informed my husband that we were not allowed to hold any public ceremonies or post 

custom when you lose a young son, or they are martyred to place his picture in the street near 
their residence. I cannot even describe how bad we were feeling. After a week we received a call 

shirts, a pair of pants, a towel, toothbrush and toothpaste, a piece of stone which I think he used 

After some time in 1993, one of his friends was released from prison and told me that when they 

face was bloodied, and he could not even walk. I asked him Mehran what are you doing here? 
He asked me Hamid, is it you? I replied yes. Mehran said that they had pressured him to say 

Two years ago, when I went to see my brother among the Iranian opposition members in Albania 

Gohardasht prison taking a fresh air break when they saw a string hanging with a note at the 

prisoners and that was how we believed it was him. He had said that he received items from his 

stolen 300 Tomans of the money I had sent for him. He added that he was tortured severely to a 

in 1988 and Jamshid Assadi whose mother and father were our close friends was executed as 

severe tortures to a point that his feet were infected there was no way of saving him. His parents 

the doctors said they had to amputate his leg. Abdulali was also executed.

This was our story.



Razieh Ghodrati

Greetings. My name is Razieh Ghodrati. I am 
a former political prisoner, supporter of the 

the name of Haidari that lasted only a few 

I spent two years in two separate prisons 

men and women we were transferred to Evin 
prison.

old at the time. Each prisoner was given two blankets one to sleep on and the other to cover with 
while sleeping; apart from these two blankets we had nothing at all.

Sometimes for two months we were not given bath privileges and in every 24 hours the guards 
would open the doors three times so that we could use the toilet. Since the prison guards held a 
terrible grudge against Mother Ganjei our room was always the last room given permission to 
use the toilets and this caused a lot of pressure on the prisoners.

In those years I witnessed the execution of many prisoners whose only crime was wanting 

me for execution” and the guard hit her with the stock of his gun causing her to yell out in pain. 
They dragged her to execute her. Everyone in the cell had woken up because of the commotion 

Parvaneh Alvandpoor was another one of my cellmates whose feet had been lashed so much that 

Parvaneh was executed in the spring of 1983 in Rasht. Zohreh Ghorbani was an extremely kind 

guards called her, I was holding her hands because she was not feeling well and had a high fever.

savage and ruthless woman.

A few of my friends were hanged in 1988. My close friend Tahmineh Sotoodeh who I got to 
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proud and lovely human being. All these people had been given a prison term but in 1988 were 

problems.

of my friends were executed. Mehrdad Rastgou, Hassan Nezampasand, Ali Nikkhah, Rahman 

Ahmed Seddiqian and Ismail Hassanpour were all executed between 1981 and 1984.

on 2 December 1963 and was a third-year high school student. He started his political activities 

Guards but each time managed to get away unharmed. During the funeral procession of Hasan 

members managed to get him out of the area and brought him home.

squad and his body was delivered to his parents but they did not allow the parents to bury him in 

Following this, my brother moved to Tehran to continue his activities. He was arrested on 14 May 

after four months when my father visited him he was not able to recognize him because of the 

Every other week my mother would travel from Rasht to Tehran to visit my brother and I. She 
would spend hours behind Evin and Gohardasht prison gates in the cold and heat to make sure 

treatment?

Eshratabad to Evin, Ghezelhesar, Gohardasht and then on 14 May we were brought back to Evin 
but of course a lot has changed”.



in preparation for the massacre. This has also been mentioned in the memoires of some other 
prisoners who were spared from execution. 

following the executions my father along with many other families of other prisoners would 

calling on God while praying to save her son and the lives of other prisoners.

This continued until December 1988 when my father received a call at his work place to visit Evin 

ending and when we got to Evin prison we found out we are not alone and there are many other 

calm. The guard called my dad inside and after about half an hour he returned disoriented with a 
bag in his hand. He handed it to me and said this is for you to keep; this is what is left from your 
brother. They only gave us his belongings. No sign of his body or his burial place. I felt that my 
back had broken, and the pressure of responsibility felt heavy on my shoulders. I made a pledge 
that I will continue this path till the end.

The authorities prohibited us from talking to others about this or holding any ceremonies. They 

Death Commissions. From that day on, life became unbearable for my parents and the whole 
family. My parents spent their nights mourning their son and life was never the same after that.

My parents wanted the Iranian leaders to be tried in international tribunals, but no-one answered 
their cry and they both died under the pain and the grief imposed on them. Twenty-nine years 

beings they were, I would say that they were the treasures of our people and they gave their lives 

As a relative of the victims of the 1988 massacre, I want the international community and human 
rights organisations to condemn the 1988 massacre and recognise it as a genocide and bring the 
perpetrators of these crimes before international courts.

Not even one single person survived Rasht Prison to talk about their ordeal and the nightmare 

ruined all their graves and resold the cemetery plots to other people.



Hossein Toutounchian

I would like to thank you on behalf of myself and 
all other families who did not have the chance to 

this most important Iranian issue. The people of 
Iran have a strong historical memory and they will 
remember you for your courage in seeking justice 
for our people. 

that my friend and cellmate Mr. Ramazan Mousavi 
talked about as well. Many of the people who were 

arresting and executing the Mojahedin in public. If one understands the reason behind this move, 

My name is Mohammad Hossein Toutounchian, and I am 61 years old. I was arrested along with 
my wife and two children, aged three and six months. My brother and sister and several of my 

brother were also arrested with us at the same time in Mashhad. 

in Gohardasht. I have come here to explain the fact that the 1988 massacre was carried out 
according to a plan devised well in advance. I was released nine months before the massacre 

took 40 of the prisoners, two at a time, for interrogation and when these prisoners returned to the 
cell they were all bloodied and beaten up. After lunch, the guards called my brother and I, took us 

there was a question, which asked what is your charge? My brother and I without coordinating 

form, they asked us to refer to Mojahedin as Monafeqin, (derogatory term meaning hypocrites 

following day they took me to a court presided by Sharia judge Hossein-Ali Nayyeri who told 

(Photo by The Media Express)



that said leave the country. In my fourth visit he wrote another message on his hand telling me 
not to visit him again. That was my last visit and I left the country after that.

My brother Mohammad Ali Toutounchian was a fourth-year sociology student at the University 

prison he would stand up courageously and say what needed to be said. All his cellmates would 
testify to this.

date we have no knowledge of his burial place or why he was executed.

an act that will be recorded in history. 

the massacre, it is likely to commit other massacres as well. So, let history remember the people 

Reza Shemirani

Dear friends, I never thought that I would be released 

chance to speak to all the judicial, legal and distinguished 
dignitaries that are present here today, having the 
opportunity to share with you what I have experienced 
and what was going on in the prisons. Many names that 
have been mentioned so far are familiar to me. I knew 
Mohammad Ali Toutounchian who was executed. I 

and the other eye needed medical care, care which he 
never received, and as a result, he lost all his vision and 
was executed.

My name is Reza Shemirani. I was a medical student. I was arrested in 1981 for supporting the 

served my sentence and was released from the prison.

I know the time limit does not allow me to go to details. I published a book about two years ago 
containing many documents including some photos that I have been able to compile, detailing 
the massacre that happened in a two-month period in 1988.
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Hossein and I were inmates. He was sort of in charge of classifying all the information we 
received in the prison. After his execution, I took on this responsibility. I was away from the 

inmates, of whom nine were executed. The person in charge of security of the prison, Mojtaba 

Amir Abdollahi and Mohammad Reza Saraydar were summoned and taken away. In the early 
hours of 28 July, Amir came back and began to gather his personal belongings. He told us that 
many prisoners have gone to the court and have been sentenced to execution. Among them 
were prisoners who were serving their prison sentences and were being sentenced again. Amir 

high number of executions and prisoners, our execution kept being postponed and somehow we 
escaped the execution. In the court, Hossein-Ali Nayyeri was seated in the middle. To his right 
was Mojtaba Pour-Mohammadi, the ex-Minister of Intelligence of Hassan Rouhani. And to the 
left was Morteza Eshraqi, the prosecutor. In cases where Nayyeri was unable to be present at 
Gohardasht prison, other judges like Ali Mobasheri, Ibrahim Raisi and Ismail Shushtari used to 
take his place.

At the end of this short court, if the prisoner was sent back to Gohardasht Prison, it meant that 

them) for hanging. I saw it when I was taken to this prison to be tortured. So, many executions 

talking about amnesty for prisoners. 

everyone hopeful and the killings to be less noticeable.

Despite all of this, the prisoners were all aware of what was going on. They bravely appeared in 
the courts and defended their beliefs and were executed.

named Mousa Vaezi known as Zamani was the main organiser. Also, I could name Mojtaba 

in the past and was trying to do its job in the space of a few months.

My observations are all documented and could be used in any court. I would also like to mention 
some points.



They were taken away, tortured and beaten. This continued for about one year. I was also called 
and was asked to gather my personal belongings. They did not allow me to go back to the ward, 

physical and psychological torture. The immense pressure forced me to unsuccessfully commit 

have plans for all the prisoners and if I collaborate, I could save myself. He told me that he will 
take me to another place, away from the others, so I will not be embarrassed for cooperating with 
the authorities.

they have a plan for all the prisoners and will not allow the existing situation to continue. At the 

a guard told him. All those labelled red will be executed, the whites will be released and the 
yellows will either be executed or will be released. They asked him to spread the news to others. 
Such dialogue was heard from others as well.

from an Italian university, and I were pinpointed and watched because the prison authorities 
thought we were in charge of organising the prisoners. This was the reason I spent about one 

the wave of executions. I asked them why they have killed so many innocent people, they were 

Iran. They were concerned that the prisoners had become a problem for the regime. This reveals 
the importance of these activities.

In summary, what is important is the execution of so many people, many who were still serving 

authorities wanted to showcase us to him and claim that not all prisoners have been executed 
and the situation is ok. Prior to his arrival, they laid green carpets in the wards, brought fridges 

families shared their painful stories with him, but unfortunately his report did not mirror the 
entire truth.

I will be available if I can answer any questions. 

Thank you.



Ahmad Ebrahimi

Dear friends, thank you very much for giving me 
this opportunity to testify about the massacre of 
political prisoners in 1988, as an eye-witness of that 
massacre. 

with my friend and we were taken to prison. After 2 
months of interrogation, which was accompanied by 
torture, I was taken to court and given a suspended 
execution sentence because of my support for the 

the situation in Iran knows that everyday about 
200-300 people were executed just in Evin prison. I was in prison for 10 years, from November 
1981 to June 1991. Three years after my sentence, I was re-tried in 1984 and in this court, I was 

In 1988, at the time of the massacre, I was in Gohardasht prison in section 1. In July, one month 
before the start of the mass executions, the people in our section were transferred to another 

want to go to “Jahad”, because “Jahad” was for those people who wanted to cooperate with the 
authorities in prison and also those people who were called “Tavabs”. I would like to explain 
about this word. All political prisoners who had been arrested and imprisoned, from day one, 
were subjected to torture, humiliation and insult and other inhumane treatment by the regime, 
so that they would bow down to the regime, but as you know, even though all the prisoners 

to co-operate with the regime, spying on other prisoners and writing reports about what is going 

frustrated, because after so long, we knew that the regime wanted to mix us with these people 
and we objected to this situation. 

Also, at the same time, our family visits were stopped, which we previously had every fortnight. 
Newspapers were banned and the only remaining source of information we had, the TV, was 

know what was going on. 

“Mohammad Moghisseh”, but he was known by the nickname, “Nasserian”, came to our section 

there, in response to all the requests we had, he just replied “what is your conviction?” If we said 
“Monafeq”, he told us to go back to the section and if we denied being a “Monafeq” and said 
anything else, he would take us to go to another section, blindfolded. 

this term to describe supporters of the Mojahedin. If we denied this label, the regime was so 
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sensitive on this issue, as a result of which, you may know, in the massacre, so many were killed 
because they denied being a “Monafeq”. 

At that time, we resisted, and I along with 86 other people were taken to the other section, which 

were blindfolded and taken to the main corridor of Gohardasht prison. From underneath my 
blindfold, I saw that lots of prisoners were seated on both sides of the corridor, one meter apart, 
with one Revolutionary Guard standing guard to make sure that nobody spoke to each other. 

culture means “Friends, forgive me” and is said when a person is going to die, or we cannot see 
them again. 

other and he said that he wants to show us something alarming. Time passed by, so many people 

that point, I was concerned because I was afraid of not being brave enough, but after my court 

I thought to myself that maybe the regime killed one or two people to somehow scare the other 

we got back, we were just 13 people that were left alive. They took us to somewhere called “Farii 



months, and after two months, all of us who were left alive from all sections and from among 
several thousand people in prison in Gohardasht, just 130 were left alive and we met in another 
section, where we spent the rest of our time in prison. Sorry I was a bit emotional, but this is what 
happened to us at that time.  

Farzaneh Majidi

Hello my name is Farzaneh Majidi. I am here today 
like other victims of this regime who spoke earlier 
to talk to you about my ordeal. It is extremely hard 
for me to talk about what happened to us, but I 
will do my best. As you can see, this is a picture 

what we went through, life has never been the 

jobs, and every turn resulted in a dead end. It 
turned out that life had no meaning living under this regime. 

I was suspended from school several times, and my brother Hossein was executed. He was 
arrested in 1981 at the age of 16, and for seven years we had no knowledge of his whereabouts. 

plot number for his grave, and my father used to say we are not even sure if he is really buried 
there. After they took my brother Hossein, we had no knowledge of his whereabouts until my 
uncle Hooshang Rahimi who was released after 10 years of imprisonment told us that his friends 
had seen Hossein in prison and he had told them if you see my uncle tell him that they have 
charged me with waging war against God and are going to execute me.

This is a picture of my oldest uncle. His name was Aziz Mohammad Rahimi who was arrested in 

his name along with eight other people who had been executed. After him Hooshang was 
imprisoned for 10 years. Two years after his release he had gone to sign in with his parole 

grandfather had started screaming and yelling at the guards telling them you have killed my son 

Now I want to talk about my aunts. This gathering is about them and everyone who was a victim 

any of us knowing of her arrest. Two months passed and one day she called and said that she is 
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in prison and they had given her a seven-year sentence. After she served her time they refused 
to release her, and she was executed in 1988 along with all other prisoners during the massacre.

Soheila was my other aunt. She was arrested along with all of us. They arrested my grandfather, 
my other aunt and myself all at once in our home. They took Soheila to prison where she faced 
many physical problems including a severe eye infection. She was even given a furlough, but the 
doctors could not heal her infection. She returned to prison from her furlough and in 1988 was 
executed along with other prisoners.

My grandmother was also taken to prison for three years. She used to say that when they took the 
prisoners for execution, there were such loud noises and so much smoke as though the place was 

Hooshang said he had a friend who looked a lot like my uncle Hooshang but a lot younger. His 
name was Morteza who is now alive and lives in Iran. He had told Morteza that he had a friend 
that he adored who was a great man. Morteza asks who is this man you talk so highly of? He 

was executed; they had tortured him severely before execution; they pulled his nails and burned 
his body and then executed him.

the regime executes a person, it is not only that person who loses his life; they in a sense kill the 

who you are, you will not be able to live a normal life under such conditions.

she came down with a special stress related illness causing blisters all around her mouth. She 

impact on her. This episode had made her lose all her desire to live.

that the authorities have locked out our front door and posted a big sign on it that read the people 
of this house are all Monafeq and are considered dangerous. 

This was part of what I had seen and experienced. I want to thank everyone involved in making 

story, but we were not able to. Going through reliving these memories are very hard for us and 
the ordeal is so heavy that a lot of people have a hard time believing it.

have been killed or vanished without a trace, and no one will ever hear their cries for help. This 
regime has been killing our people for years, and no one knows how they were killed. I thank 
you for listening to me.



Behrouz Eslami

I would like to thank the organisers of this meeting 
who gave me the chance to come here and testify. 

I was imprisoned and sentenced to death but a week 
before the execution I had a chance to escape. After my 
escape, my wife was arrested while my son was only 
a year old. In 1981, when I was in prison, one night 
we became aware that Nader Dabeshlim who was a 

was 16 years old and was a martyr from our city. I am 

faced other types of tortures except physical ones. I remember one thing which I wanted to say. 

son were arrested. There was no hot water to bath the babies. Around 30 women were in one 

hot water to my wife to bath Nader. The denial of access to enough hot water is just one example 
of non-physical torture that I wanted to mention.

However, in relation to the issue of the 1988 massacre for which we have gathered today, my 
sister Farah, along with four other women and two men, were executed together exactly on 30 

an opportunity when I was out of the country to get her out, but unfortunately, the phone was 

years. In an opportunity, my dad and my cousin, (my dad is dead, but my cousin is alive and is 
out of the country, and I hope he can testify one day in the future) they took Farah to a specialist 
who saw her back. Her back was wounded. This specialist had never seen such wounds, he was 
surprised and asked what has happened to her? These wounds are strange! Then, my dad told 
him that she has been tortured. The doctor started crying and could not believe what he was 
seeing. In early 1988, Farah was arrested again and was interrogated, but they still did not give 
her a verdict. Then, the 1988 massacre started. Farah was executed with four other women. Here 
are their photos, Nasrin Rajabi, Jasoumeh Heidari, Hakimeh Rizbandi and Marzieh Rahmati, 
and Farah. They were executed with two other men, Mohammad Nabi Morovvati and Nasrollah 

Not knowing this, my father kept going to the prison during the visit hours, but they kept saying 
that she was forbidden to have any visit. This went on for months. Finally, due to the pressure 
of my father and other families, on 26 November 1988, like all other witnesses who said they 
received a phone call, our phone rang, and my father answered it. He was asked to go to the 

supporting the Mojahedin. If you say anything or invite anyone for even a small memorial, we 
will execute all of you.” 

(Orbisswiss Photos Geneva)



more than 4 persons can go to her grave”. 

families of other martyrs went to the location which they had been told in Saleh Abad cemetery.

In a ditch about 10 meters long, the authorities had put the corps of these martyrs; the feet of 
one was on the head of the other. In that ditch, martyrs Hakimeh Rizbandi, Nasrin Rajabi, Farah 

buried. 

had curly hair. The stone of the graves of theses seven martyrs were destroyed many times by 
mercenaries. They even prevented the families from planting a tree.

the guards had moved these prisoners out of the prison with the excuse of security problems.  
 

received news from a nearby village and we were told that on the way, their vehicle had broken 
down. They had to spend the night there, and in the morning, the authorities moved the prisoners 
to the top of a hill near Saleh Abad and after they raped the prisoners, they killed all of them.

I know all those who were martyred with Farah, but Jasoumeh was a special case. She was the 

one knows what happened to her father either, an 80-year-old man.

This is the story of Jasoumeh and about another martyr, Marzieh Rahmati, who had said that she 
was not given water for three days, and on the fourth day, they told her that she would be given 
a few drops of water in exchange for each confession, which obviously she had refused. 

she had been tortured, but, she did not want to make her family sad, so she did not allow them 
to go and see her body.
 
Thank you very much, and I hope one day the movement for justice will bear fruit and the agents 
and mercenaries of this massacre will go on trial and get punished for their crimes.



Conclusion of Session 3

By Kirsty Brimelow
Underlying cases of crimes against humanity, 
we have had one of our witnesses who has raised 
the possibility of the crime of genocide which is 
certainly something in terms of looking at the 

evidence from witnesses that spurious charges, 
no charges at all, we have the evidence there not 
only what is in the report, but evidence of those 
who had been released from prison sentences. 

spurious charge but then asked to use the word 
Monafeqin (hypocrite), and if they used the 
wrong word the death sentence was imposed. 
Torture, physical torture, beatings lashing, 
beatings to feet, legs causing infection such as 

kidney problems, resulting in further inhumane 
conditions being imposed such as no access in toilet facilities. Normal detention included, we 

air and taking it in turns. Torture has extended to beatings so that the prisoner is unrecognisable 

simply to try to get some sort of confession to give an excuse to comply with a fatwa which had 
no basis in any legal process, procedure or law.

The evidence and more direct evidence of children; we had evidence of a 16-year-old and a 

of the families, again the theme of families being called to prison and then sent away; refusal 
of visitation rights to people. The treatment of the families; no access to the body of their loved 

sister in order to carry out a burial, however the burial resulted in the head stone constantly being 
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were in prison who could hardly believe how the prisons had been emptied so quickly thinking 
it could only be that there were pardons and then hearing via Morse code that in fact there was 
no pardon, that people were being hanged in twos and more. Rasht prison, no one survived it. 

even the spurious reason upon which a loved one was put to death.

of playing with the families; the lack of information, the games, the cruel inhumane treatment, 

prison guard and the complicity and the knowledge of the prison guards knowing that there was 
complete planning and that the mass execution was what was happening next.

Amongst it all, amongst the evidence of a wooden sign, which was the only sign of the graveyard 
of a loved one with a number 6 on it, amongst all of that we have the naming of a new generation 

know that Canada a number of years ago recognised that the 1988 killings were a crime against 
humanity. So, another step that could be taken is for Parliament, for governments around the 
world to recognise what Canada had done that this was a crime against humanity.

Perpetrators on trial including answers that could be gained through proper investigation and 
a commission, and out of it all the message that perhaps we can take is the message of the cry 
to let history be positive. This history is tragic but turn it into something positive by using it to 
prevent a repeat of that massacre today, and that is the precepts perhaps where we are as an 
international community, where we are standing looking at Iran, that there is a real danger that 
this could be again repeated. So, the cry is let us use the bravery of all our witnesses and let us 
use the inhumanity that they have spoken of and try and turn a corner rather than continue in 
the same cycle of history repeating itself.

Please join me in thanking our very brave witnesses and expressing also your condolences. It 
took a huge amount of emotional courage today, and we salute them all.



Adjudicators’ Conclusion
Session 4

I am moved by the courage of the witnesses who have 

the wicked behavior of the authorities in Iran in July-

was Prime Minister of Iran at the time, defended 
the killings on Austrian Television. This is what he 
said, “They had to die because they had plans to 

the conspiracy.” 

So, there we have another view, there we have to 

poison, and it was the most brutal reprisal that in some ways and some accounts explains why 
he authorized the deaths of so many innocent prisoners; people who were innocent because 

newspapers and they were simply destroyed. Partly, as a result of hatred, so Mousavi was wrong 

at this case as a whole, we must demand an explanation and understand why the explanation is 

If you look at the explanations that are coming out since 2016 when various mouthpieces of the 
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hold of radios - that listening to a broadcast by your friends would be something that you would 

there was no basis for thinking they were in cahoots; that they were in communication with the 

the killings must be rejected out of hand, but that is the way, as this story is exposed, the regime 
is forced to defend it, and it is not a defense in law, because from time in memorial, hundreds 
of years ago, prisoners have been given special protection in law because they are especially 
vulnerable. They are at the whim of their conquerors and they are given rights; the right of 

vulnerability. Now, what happened, I think we can summarize the evidence, as I summarized it 

can summarize what happened this way. 

with government opponents suddenly went into lockdown. All family visits were cancelled, 

these young men and women, most of them detained since 1981 merely for taking part in street 

with the Mojahedin were blindfolded and ordered to join a conga-line that led straight to the 
gallows. They were hung from cranes, four at a time, or in groups of six from ropes hanging from 
the front of the stage in an assembly hall; some were taken to army barracks at night, directed 

packed in refrigerated trucks and buried by night in mass graves. Months later their families, 
desperate for information about their children or partners, would be handed a plastic bag with 
their few possessions. They would be refused any information about the location of the graves 

recanted or died of torture. And men were given an opportunity to say that their parents were 

this is where genocide comes in, because genocide is killing part of a group on religious or racial 
reasons. And religious reasons include apostasy.  So, there is no doubt about the enormity of 

that they were planning operations to kill, this defense has no merit because there is no evidence 



of it. There is no evidence of any two-way communication between the prisoners and there is in 
fact no defense in law to arbitrary executions. Even if you have evidence you have to produce it, 
there has to be some form of trial in which the defendant has a defender, and that of course was 

death. That was punished at the Tokyo trial. Those who ordered the death march were ordered 
to be executed. 

generals have all been sentenced to life imprisonment. Those two cases not as serious as the case 

heard, was the Justice Minister until a few months ago and is now the senior advisor to the head 
of the judiciary.

is still alive and still, I think, needs to account for his part in at least trying to excuse these killings 
back in 1988.

I thought his response was cowardly and pathetic. He was told, as was Amnesty International, 

paraded women in front of him who they said were prisoners - but one suspects that they were 
actors - who said how wonderful the food was at Evin Prison! Did he ask to meet Montazeri?  

chemical weapons. People were very pleased that it had ended, that no one wanted to upset 



being killed arbitrarily. So, Iran got away with it, and still gets away with it. I was noticing the 
report of the latest Special Rapporteur, who having said between July and August thousands of 

notes the Montazeri tapes, and says over the years a high number of reports have been issued 
about the 1988 massacres; If the number of persons disappeared can be disputed, overwhelming 
evidence shows that thousands of persons were summarily killed; Recently these killings have 
been acknowledged; families of the victims have a right to know the truth.

therefore calls on the government to ensure a thorough and independent investigation. That is 
illogical and very weak! This government of Iran has been called on for thirty years to set up 
commissions of inquiry and it will not do so. It is illogical for the Special Rapporteur to end up by 

That is no solution at all. 

The only thing, and of course, short of invading Iran that the UN is not going to do, there is no 
immediate likelihood of a criminal trial. However, there was an opportunity when the people who 
acted with this barbarity were on-route to get a nuclear weapon, that was when the world did say 

because they are capable of such barbarity that if they got a nuclear weapon we would all be at 

in a clause requiring any kind of remedy or recompense for the killings of 1988. 

Rights Council to set up an inquiry. There is now a mass amount of evidence, an authoritative 

which was a very good inquiry, and exposed those who were guilty of it. So, a Human Rights 

that this inquiry be undertaken.

Now, once it is, there is a further development in human rights law, which is rather interesting 
because it is compatible with the new desire for countries to have their own sovereignty and not 

who was killed in Russia after exposing criminality on the part of the State; and the people who 
were responsible for his death were policemen, prosecutors and judges. Judges who refused to 

a global Magnitsky law in which individuals who are responsible for human rights atrocities 
are listed and are not allowed to not only to enter the country but to have money in banks, 
to have relatives treated in hospitals, to have children educated; in fact they are frozen out of 

Magnitsky statute. Estonia and a number of European countries have accepted the principal that 
they should name and shame individuals who are responsible for human rights abuse and allow 



to make money or power for their family, but they will be casted out of the civilized world and 
will not be even allowed to accompany their State delegations. 

So, that for the time being must be the way forward. Firstly, an urgent authoritative inquiry 

by ignoring this mass atrocity. And secondly, by encouraging countries once the individuals 

should be put on Magnitsky lists by those countries that are developing that way of condemning 
human rights abuse. Thank you.

Eric David

and its members

killings, forced disappearances, 
physical and moral torture (not 
to make speak but to make silent) 
= > terrorism = > combination 

(G. Robertson).

proved (ICTR jurisprudence, , 2006, etc).

- A continuous crime = > no statute of limitation

direct perpetrator is found on the territory of any foreign State and obligation of Iran itself, 
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as a State, to prosecute any person suspected to be responsible for the 1988 massacres and all 

that the UN, in pursuance of the principles and purposes set forth in the Charter 

such crimes shall be subject to tracing, arrest, trial and, if found guilty, tu punishment;

 that the most serious crimes of concern to the international community as a 

taking measures at the national level and by enhancing international cooperation, 

Determined to put an end to impunity for the perpetrators of these crimes and thus to 
contribute to the prevention of such crimes, 

 that it is the duty of every State to exercise its criminal jurisdiction over those responsible 
for international crimes”

- 1988 massacres = crimes against humanity and, even, to some extent, genocide;
- Crimes justifying universal jurisdiction in all States towards direct and indirect perpetrators 

found on their territory;
- Lack of prosecution against the perpetrators of crimes against humanity is also a violation of 

international law by Iran;
- International responsibility of Iran as a State full 

compensation

II. The duties of the UN towards the Iranian crimes

the HC

activities under the direction and authority of the Secretary-General; within the framework 
of the overall competence, authority and decisions of the General Assembly, the Economic 



political and social rights;

view to improving the promotion and protection of all human rights;

“Combating impunity in cases of human rights violations on a mass scale is perceived 

Nations human rights programme has tools for inquiring into human rights violations, 
thus helping to hold perpetrators accountable. In the past, the Commission on Human 
Rights, the Secretary-General or the High Commissioner has established commissions of 
inquiry or other types of investigation teams. Reports resulting from these examinations 
were made to the competent bodies of the United Nations for further consideration. In the 

 

person, in the equal rights of men and women and of nations large and small, and 
to establish conditions under which justice and respect for the obligations arising from 
treaties and other sources of international law can be maintained

Art. 1

3. To achieve international cooperation in solving international problems of an economic, 
social, cultural, or humanitarian character, and in promoting and encouraging respect for 
human rights and for fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, 
language, or religion; and 

ends.”

possibility
with these crimes against humanity and to investigate about them; international responsibility 
of the UN if they remain silent? (
passivity?)

Iran; 

9.  serious concern at the alarmingly high frequency of the imposition 
and carrying-out of the death penalty by the Islamic Republic of Iran, in violation of its 
international obligations, including the imposition of the death penalty against minors and 



for crimes that do not qualify as the most serious crimes, on the basis of forced confessions 

both the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the International Covenant on Civil and 
Political Rights, expresses concern at the continuing disregard for internationally recognized 

members or legal counsel, and calls upon the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran to 
abolish, in law and in practice, public executions, which are contrary to the 2008 directive 
seeking to end this practice issued by the former head of the judiciary;

10. Calls upon the Islamic Republic of Iran to ensure, in law and in practice, that no 
one is subjected to torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, 
which may include sexual violence, and punishments that are grossly disproportionate 

constitutional  guarantees  of  the  Islamic  Republic  of  Iran  and international obligations;

11.  the Islamic Republic of Iran to cease the widespread and systematic use of 
arbitrary detention, including the use of this practice to target dual and foreign nationals, 
and to uphold, in law and in practice, procedural guarantees to ensure fair trial standards, 

through  all  stages  of  trial  and  all  appeals,  the  right  not  to  be subjected to torture, cruel 
and inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment and consideration of bail and other 
reasonable terms for release from custody pending trial;

12. Calls upon the Islamic Republic of Iran to address the poor conditions of prisons, 
to eliminate the denial of access to adequate medical treatment and the consequent risk of 
death faced by prisoners and to put an end to the continued and sustained house arrest of 

about their health, as well as the pressure exerted upon their relatives and dependants, 
including through arrest, and also calls upon the Islamic Republic of Iran to establish 
credible and independent prison oversight authorities to investigate complaints of abuse;

- Rather strangely and unfortunately, these resolutions are not adopted by crushing majorities 

which voted against are generally not model States regarding the respect of human rights ( ., 

Pakistan, Russia, Syria, Turkmenistan, Vietnam, Zimbabwe …). The proverb says, birds of 

to another maxim, the wolves do not eat each other …

- Establishment of a special ICT (no ICC competence for the 1988 massacres, ICC Statute, Art. 
11); international obligation? Could be pleaded (
before the ICJ, 2012).

- International responsibility of the UN for an internationally wrongful omission (lack of an 
appropriate reaction about the 1988 massacres)? = > request by the UNGA for an advisory 
opinion from the ICJ
elle mène à la justice”, J. Jaurès).



- The UN could have been much more active and should have established a special ICT 
for the 1988 massacres in view of their magnitude;
- It could be pleaded that this lack of appropriate reaction of the UN is an internationally 
wrongful omission; the UNGA should request an advisory opinion from the ICJ in this 
regard.



Media Coverage

The civil society hearing was widely covered by the international press including Swiss public 
broadcaster RSI, Tribune de Genève, Saudi news channel Al-Ekhbariya, Newsweek, Radio Farda, 
Voice of America (Persian Service), The Hill (U.S.), Elaph (Arabic news agency), Al Riyadh (Saudi 

THE U.N. MUST INVESTIGATE IRAN’S 1988 MASSACRE, 
OR DETAINED PROTESTERS TODAY FACE SAME FATE

The United Nations (U.N.) is often criticized for not acting or not intervening promptly to rescue 
victims of gross violations of human rights. This is an observation I came to register when I was 

massacre of political prisoners in Iran, yet another case where the global body of nations failed 
to act in a timely manner.

headquarters in Geneva. Survivors of the massacre, relatives of victims and human rights experts 

that sought an end to the theocratic dictatorship began in the country.
So far, 10 protesters have been reportedly tortured to death in prison, although the regime rejects 

emblematic case is the 1988 massacre.

“condemned to execution.”

Commissions,” throughout the country to implement his order of executing all political prisoners 



mere minutes.
The U.N. Special Rapporteur on the Situation of Human Rights in Iran, Asma Jahangir, reported 

were part of the commissions that carried out the massacre.
Her report pointed out that the families of the victims “have a right to know the truth about these 
events and the fate of their loved ones without risking reprisal. They have the right to a remedy, 

truth; and the right to reparation.”

for the Victims of the 1988 Massacre in Iran (JVMI), about these mass executions. The reports 
exposed the identities of dozens of members of the Death Commissions. Some of them are 
currently holding senior positions in the Iranian administration, including the government and 

used to secretly bury the victims.

Iran to investigate and bring perpetrators to account have fallen on deaf ears. The hearing in 
Geneva this week is a civil society exercise to call for accountability and justice for the victims 
and their families.
The ruthless and extreme violence the Iranian authorities used recently against peaceful 

in suppressing the opposition. The perpetrators of previous grave crimes in Iran must not be 
allowed to embark on a new systematic purge of the protesters. The international community 

tolerated.
A U.N. commission of inquiry to hold the perpetrators of the 1988 massacre to account must 

of the political prisoners in the summer of 1988.

Al Hussein, has made great strides in the promotion of human rights globally, but the issue of 
timely responses to imminent tragedies remains a serious challenge.
If the U.N. wants to stop another slaughter of innocent Iranians whose only crime is to demand 
basic rights and an end to clerical rule, then the time to act is now. The High Commissioner should 
seize the moment, and all U.N. Member States must lend him their support in the formation of a 
commission to investigate the 1988 massacre and bring an end to the impunity in Iran.



Iran’s latest crackdown on dissent is fueled by UN silence over 
past crimes

Islamic Republic of Iran, there is widespread agreement that the fallout from recent protests, 
which spread to as many as 140 cities across the country, has only just begun. 

means that public grievances are continuing to simmer and will certainly bubble to the surface 
again, perhaps with even greater intensity. Considering the unexpectedly bold slogans of the 

regime.

instances of suicide. 
“Deceased prisoners have died of guilty conscience,” Hassan Nowroozi, the spokesman for the 

acts, and maybe that led to their suicide in prison.”

theocracy, where they were tasked with identifying persistent opposition to clerical rule, and to 
stamp it out.
As a board member of Justice for Victims of the 1988 Massacre in Iran (JVMI), I have extensively 

an estimated 30,000 political prisoners following minute-long interrogations regarding their 

were executed had already served out their apportioned sentences.

which nonetheless remains the leading opposition group in the Islamic Republic. Although regime 

of the recent demonstrations led the supreme leader to publicly acknowledge the organization 
as a driving force behind them.

“enemies of God.” Some of the present conditions are disturbingly reminiscent of the run-up to 



reprisals inside Iran but also the lack of a serious response from much of the world.

the freedom to carry out its killings 30 years ago, and the persistence of that silence has provided 
the regime with a sense of impunity with regard to subsequent human rights abuses. If the 
international community in general, and the UN in particular, fail to send a clear message of 
intolerance for both current and past human rights abuses, it is all but certain that Tehran will 
continue to escalate the current situation, perhaps even to reach the level of the 1988 massacre.
Concern over that possibility, as well as the demand of justice for past victims, has been a driving 

where I will join other human rights experts in discussing a mock indictment to be brought 
against the perpetrators of the massacre.
This hearing will also include eyewitness testimony from survivors of the massacre, and it is 
my hope that world powers will bear witness to the story and feel appropriately ashamed of 

engender more cruelty and violence. Such silence endangers the lives of countless innocent 
people.

un-silence-over-past

* * * * *

TV carried a report about 
the civil society hearing on 
1 February 2018 with the 

for the Victims of the 1988 

Prevent a massacre of 
detainees”.

html



...



channel, carried a 3-minute report about the civil society hearing in its nightly news bulletin on 2 

Al-Ekhbariya TV (Saudi News Channel), 
aired a report about the civil society 
hearing in its news coverage on 1 
February 2018. The segment was aired 

a conference to expose human rights 
violations by the Iranian regime”.

Radio Farda, the Iranian branch of 
the U.S. government-funded Radio 

external broadcast service, aired an 

about the hearing on 1 February 2018. 
The segment is available on the radio 

trial held to investigate executions of the 
1980s in Iran”.



Notes: 

Mostafa Pour-Mohammadi

Commission” in Tehran

Commission” and described him as a Minister of Murder.

Mohammad Moghisseh (a.k.a. Nasserian)

of “Death Commission” in Tehran

Ali Mobasheri

Nayyeri in Death Commission

Morteza Eshragi

Ali Razini

disregarding rules and regulations which can be restrictive and troublesome. 2. Any act that may 
lead to failure of Islamic front or be a threat to lives or cause bodily harm, punishment will be 
death.”

Hossein-Ali Nayyeri

Death Commission in Tehran

head of the national Supreme Court

Asadollah Lajevardi

the torture and execution of thousands of Iranian political prisoners who opposed the ruling 

Evin prison

Evin Prison 
is a prison located in the Evin neighborhood of Tehran, Iran. The prison is notable as the primary 



in a purpose-built wing nicknamed “Evin University” due to the number of intellectuals housed 
there

Ghezel Hesar Prison 
Is the largest state prison in Iran. As of 2011 it was holding about 20,000 prisoners.

Gohardasht Prison

Dasht Prison, it is also known as “Rajai Shahr Prison”. Political prisoners and prisoners of 

harshest jails because of its many reported cases of torture, rape and murder. The IRGC has 

Heshmatiyeh Prison
Heshmatiyeh Prison is a prison, located on a Revolutionary Guards (IRGC) base, in the North-

Haj Davood Rahmani

Ghezel Hesar 
Prison in the summer of 1981 and remained at this post until July 1984. After being discharged, 

Persons. In prison he was known as “Haj Davood”.

Fatwa
fatwa

The task of implementing the decree in Tehran is entrusted to Hojjatol-Islam Nayyeri, the religious 
judge, Mr. Eshraqi, the Tehran prosecutor, and a representative of the Intelligence Ministry.

Ruhollah Moussavi Khomeini






